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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF HAWAI'I

DONNA LYNCH, CIVIL NO. 16-00213 DKW-KSC

Plaintiff,
ORDER GRANTING

VS. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO
DISMISS AND GRANTING LEAVE
FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE | TO AMEND

ASSOCIATION,et al,

Defendants.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT S’ MOTION TO DISMISS
AND GRANTING LEAVE TO AMEND

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Donna Lynch, proceeding pro, £gings numerous claims against the
lender and loan servicer involved in the nahgial foreclosure salef her property.
Lynch seeks damages, resassof a 2007 mortgage and to set aside the foreclosure
sale, based upon the frauduleonduct of unspecified agents acting on behalf of
Defendants. Because sealeof Lynch’s claims a not alleged with the
particularity required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) and/or otherwise fail
to state a claim for relief, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is granted. Lynch is
granted limited leave to filan amended complaint ndadathan December 16, 2016,

with instructions below.
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BACKGROUND

Lynch brings claims against Bmdants Federal Nlanal Mortgage
Association (“Fannie Mae”), Countrywide H@ Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”), and
Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”), arisingrom the nonjudicial foreclosure sale of
her real property located at 66 klaHale Place, Lahaina, Hawaii 96761
(“Property”), whichtook place on June 17, 2010 under a power of sale from a 2007
Mortgage. Complaint {§ 7-15, 31 Fannie Mae gained title to the Property
through the foreclosure sale, and thereaftgiated a Complaint for Ejectment in
the Circuit Court of the Second Circuittime State of Hawaii tobtain possession of
the Property. Defendants’ Ex. B (Quaien Deed) and Ex. C (Complaint for
Ejectment). Lynch filed thinstant Complaint in s&tcourt while the ejectment
action was pending). Defendants removed the casehis Court on May 3, 2016.

The Complaint alleges that during tt@urse of refinanog her mortgage

with Countrywide, Lynch “was sufferingom a medical conditiothat affected her

The Court GRANTS Defendants’ Request For diadliNotice. Dkt. No. 8. The Court may
consider documents whose conteants incorporated by referenicethe Complaint, including the
2007 Mortgage. Davis v. HSBC Bank Nevada, N.891 F.3d 1152, 1160 (9th Cir. 2012). The
Court may also consider matteratlare the proper subject ofjcial notice pursuant to Federal
Rule of Evidence 201, including publiciyailable and recorded documentsee v. City of Los
Angeles 250 F.3d 668, 688-89 (9th Cir. 200Tgllabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Lteb1
U.S. 308, 322 (2007Barber v. Ohana Military Communities, LL.2014 WL 3529766, *4 (D.
Haw. July 15, 2014).

0n August 19, 2015, the state court granted Faviaigs motion for summary judgment and writ
of possession and entered judgment in its favloynch filed a Notice of Apeal in the ejectment
action on March 16, 2016, CAAP-16-0000196eeDefendants’ Ex. E.

2



ability to think clearly,” and notified Courjtwide of this fact. Complaint 71 12-14.
Because of her medical catidn, she was unable to leave her home. Therefore,
“Countrywide sent a representative to heuse to force her to sign paperwork for
this second refinancing. Relying on repentations made by [Countrywide] or its
agents, and for fear of the dire consegasrDefendant threatened her with, [Lynch]
reluctantly signed the new loan papersComplaint § 15. According to Lynch,
“when she became unablertake payments on this second refinanced loan, [she]
became aware that she had been dupedigtong a loan with considerably worse
terms than the first refinance loan.” Complaint  16.

She attempted to modify the termshefr mortgage, at times communicating
with Countrywide and BANA (as servicef the loan), “and receiving conflicting
information from each.” Complaint § 22At an unspecified date, Lynch alleges
that “agents of [BANA] told Plaintiffo stop making mortgage payments, falsely
explaining that she had to be in ddfan order for her request for a loan
modification to be considered. Relying the representations of agents of
[BANA], Plaintiff stopped making paymésnon her mortgage.” Complaint
19 27-28. She contends that the nongiadiforeclosure sale of the Property
occurred while loan modification nefjgtions were ongoing and was wrongfully
conducted because the “posting of the intento foreclose was never put in one of

the Plaintiff’'s local papers on Maui. Was apparently pted in the paper on



Honolulu. . . . And therefore, it is nabesidered a ‘local newspaper.” Complaint
1 32.

Lynch alleges the following causesadition: (1) quiet title and wrongful
foreclosure (Count I); (2) fraud and resams{Count Il); (3) violation of the Real
Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 0.8.2605(e) (“RESPA”), and 12 C.F.R.
8 226.36(c)(1)(iil) (“Regulation Z”) (Couritl); (4) violation of the Equal Credit
Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1961(EDA"), and 12 C.F.R. § 202.9(c)(2)
(“Regulation B”) (Count IV); (5) unfairrad deceptive acts and practices (“UDAP”)
under Haw. Rev. Stat. (“HRS”) Chapter 48 (@t V); (6) breach of the implied
covenant of good faith andifalealing (Count VI); (7) breach of agreement to
negotiate loan modification contractgood faith (Count VII); (8) negligent and/or
intentional misrepresentan (Count VIII); and (9) nulfication and avoidance of
note and mortgage due to mental incégg€ount I1X). Defendants move to
dismiss the Complaint with prejudice fiailure to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(®) permits a motion to dismiss for
failure to state a claim upon which rélean be granted. PursuantAshcroft v.
Igbal, “[tjo survive a motion to dismiss, amgplaint must contain sufficient factual

matter, accepted as true, ttate a claim to relief that ausible on its face.” 555



U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombj\b50 U.S. 554, 570
(2007)). “[T]he tenet that a court mustapt as true all of the allegations contained
in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusiondd. Accordingly,

“[tlhreadbare recitals of the elememisa cause of action, supported by mere
conclusory statements, do not sufficeld. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 555).
Rather, “[a] claim has facial plausibilityhen the plaintiff pleads factual content
that allows the court to draw the reasoeahference that the defendant is liable for
the misconduct alleged.”d. (citing Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). Factual
allegations that only permit the courtitder “the mere posbility of misconduct”

do not constitute a short and plain statenoétie claim showing that the pleader is
entitled to relief as reqred by Rule 8(a)(2).1d. at 679.

DISCUSSION

Because Lynch is proceeding pro se, the Court liberally construes her filings.
See Erickson v. ParduS51 U.S. 89, 94 (2007Eldridge v. Block832 F.2d 1132,
1137 (9th Cir. 1987) (“The Supreme Courshastructed the federal courts to
liberally construe the ‘inartful pleaty’ of pro se litigants.”) (citind3oag v.
MacDougall 454 U.S. 364, 365 (1982) (per curigm The Court recognizes that
“[ulnless it is absolutely clear that no amadenent can cure the defect . . . a pro se
litigant is entitled to notice ahe complaint’s deficienes and an opportunity to

amend prior to dismissal of the actionl’ucas v. Dep’t of Corr 66 F.3d 245, 248



(9th Cir. 1995)see also Crowley v. Bannist&134 F.3d 967, 977-78 (9th Cir. 2013).

As discussed more fully below, even lialy construed, the allegations in the
Complaint are deficient for several reasonsirst, the allegations of fraudulent
conduct fall short of the particularity required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
9(b), including the time, place, partyndacontent of the fraudulent representations.
Second, the Complaint fails to provide sufficient factual content to permit the Court
to draw the reasonable inference thiay Defendant is lide for the misconduct
alleged. Defendants’ Motias therefore granted, butith limited leave to amend
consistent with the instructions below.

l. Count I: Quiet Title

Count | seeks “a judgment quieting tilte[Lynch’s] favor, as the subject
Note and Mortgage, and catiently the nonjudicial foreclosure sale conducted on
the subject property and subsequent trarsffétle to Defendant [Fannie Mae], are
void and unenforceable[.]” ComplainB%. The Court construes the claim as
seeking relief pursuant to HRS 8§ 669-1(a)jchiprovides that a quiet title “[a]ction
may be brought by any person against arrgikeson who claims, or who may claim
adversely to the plaintiff, an estate oteirest in real property, for the purpose of
determining the adverse claim.” Lyndigwever, has not alleged even the most
basic facts regarding the inégsts of various parties to make out a cognizable “quiet

title” claim.



Further, a plaintiff bringing a statutoquiet title claim agaist a mortgagee or
purported servicer for the mortgagee is reegito allege that she is able to tender
the amount of indebtednesssee Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n v. Kamaka2012 WL
622169, at *9 (D. Haw. Feb. 23, 2012) (“Adiarequirement of an action to quiet
title is an allegation that plaintiffs athe rightful owners of the property., that
they have satisfied their obligations under the [note and mortgage].”) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitte@enoist v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass’8012 WL
3202180, at *10 (D. Haw. Aug. 3, 2012) (]ginder is requiredegardless of
whether the claim is baset common law or statute."Garaang v. PNC Mortg
795 F. Supp. 2d 1098, 1126 (D. Haw. 2011) @tder for mortgagors to quiet title
against the mortgagee, the mortgagors rastblish that they are the rightful
owners of the property and they have pardare able to pay, the amount of their
indebtedness.”). Cases from this distriotl &lsewhere rely on this rule requiring a
plaintiff “to establish his superior title Ishowing the strength of his title as opposed
to merely attacking thetle of the defendant.” Amina v. Bank of N.Y. MellpA012
WL 3283513, at *3 (D. Haw. Aug. 9, 2012)Lynch does not allege that she has
paid the outstanding loan balancelmat she is able to do so.

For these reasons, Lynch fails to statclaim for quiet title, and Count | is
dismissed. Because amendment may lesipte, however, she is granted leave to

attempt to cure the deficieies in this claim.



Il. Count Il: Fraud

Lynch alleges in Count Il thateH‘Note and Mortgage are void and
unenforceable as procured by fraud, camr, and under duress. [Countrywide]
made multiple misrepresetitans to [Lynch] . . . [shlewas fraudulently induced and
coerced by these statements to signstfe®dnd refinance loan documents without
having time to review them or haveeth reviewed.” Complaint  35.

A. Whether Fraud Claims Are Time-Barred

From what the Court can discerryrich’s fraud allegations stem from the
refinancing of her 2007 MortgageSeeDefendants’ Ex. A. Specifically, she
claims that Countrywide made misreprestate that caused her to sign refinance
documents “to her detriment,” and thahéswas physically intimidated by loan
officers showing up at her house,” and assult, “the nonjudicial foreclosure sale
must be set aside.” Complaint {1 35-3%he only mortgagbetween Lynch and
Countrywide before the Court is the 2007 m¢age, which was also the basis for the
nonjudicial foreclosure and eventual stedeirt ejectment action. In opposition to
the Motion, Lynch does not contesattihe 2007 Mortgage is the operative
document. Accordingly, the Court conges Count Il as relating to fraudulent
conduct arising from the refancing of the 2007 Mortgage.

Defendants move to dismiss the fraugims as time-barred. Although the

Complaint does not allege the dates of these encounters with Defendants’ allegedly



intimidating representatives, or the spieatircumstances that resulted in the
signing of the documents, these allegatiapgear to relate exclusively to the
origination of the Countrywide Mortgage reded in the State of Hawaii Bureau of
Conveyances (“BOQ"on May 15, 2007. SeeDefendants’ Ex. A. Lynch’s fraud
claims are subjedb a limitations period of siyears under HRS § 657-1(4Mroz

v. Hoaloha Na Eha, In¢360 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1135 (D. Haw. 2005) (citing
Eastman v. McGowar86 Hawai‘i 21, 946 P.2d 1311323 (1997)). As to when
the statute of limitations period farfraud-based claim begins to run:

Under Hawai‘i law, constructivaotice “arise[s] as a legal
inference, where circumstanca® such that a reasonably
prudent person should make inquiries, [and, therefore,] the law
charges a person with noticefatts which inquiry would have
disclosed.” SGM Partnership v. Nelspb Haw. App. 526, 529,
705 P.2d 49, 52 (1985) (citation dtad; brackets in original).
Although Hawai‘i courts havaot addressed whether the
recording of a deed servesamsstructive notice for purposes of
a fraud claim, courts in theate have recognized that the
recording of a document gives rawito the general public of the
conveyance. See Markham v. Markhar80 Hawai‘i, 274, 281,
909 P.2d 602, 609 (App. 1996) (noting that the “central purpose
of recording a conveyance of rgabperty is to give notice to the
general public of the conveyanagrd to preserve the recorded
instrument as evidence”). . [A] publicly record[ed] document

.. . provides constructive notice where the document itself
constitutes evidence of the fraud.

Fields v. Nationstar Mortg. LL2015 WL 5162469, at *4 (IHaw. Aug. 31, 2015)

(citation omitted).



Based on Lynch’s allegations, the Moggatself constitutes evidence of the
alleged fraud. SeeComplaint 1 14-19, 35-37. The Mortgage was recorded with
the BOC as Documemumber 2007-086966. DefendsnEx. A. Thus, Lynch is
charged with constructive knowledge of tentents of the Mortgage on May 15,
2007. In fact, Lynch had actual noticetloé contents of the Mortgage when she
signed the document before a notary on Ba3007. Lynch fild her Complaint in
state court on April 4, 2016. In other mds, whether the statute of limitations
began to run on May 3, 2007 or May 1807, Lynch failed tdile her Complaint
within the six-year limitations period.

The Court finds, however, for purposediod instant Motion, that dismissal
on statute of limitations grounds would rioe appropriate in light of Lynch’s
allegations that she was under duress“amhtally incapable of making a rational
decision at that time.” Complaint § 36Although the Court is not required to
assume the truth of these legal conclusifam the purpose of tolling the statute of
limitations, see Igbal 555 U.S. at 678, liberally constrd, there may be grounds to

establish equitable or statutory tollihgA claim may be disissed under Rule 12 as

3SeeHRS § 657-13 (“If any person emitl to bring any action specified in this part (excepting
actions against the sheriff, chief of police pther officers) is, at the time the cause of action
accrued, either: (1) Within the age of eightgears; or, (2) Insane; or, (3) Imprisoned on a
criminal charge. . .; such person shall be at libertyring such actions within the respective times
limited in this part, after the disability is removedat any time while the disability exists.”).
Although Lynch raises issues ofrhraental capacity to contracttih@r than legal insanity for
purposes of tolling under HRS 8§ 657-13, such allegatreasl, with the required liberality, could
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“barred by the applicable statute of lintitens only when ‘the running of the statute
is apparent on the facé the complaint.” Von Saher v. Norton Simon Museum of
Art at Pasadena592 F.3d 954, 969 (9th Cir. 2010) (quotidgynh v. Chase
Manhattan Bank465 F.3d 992, 997 (9th Cir. 2006))Such motion should be
granted “only if the assertions of thengplaint, read with the required liberality,
would not permit the plaintiff to prove that the statute was tollebllérales v. City
of Los Angele214 F.3d 1151, 1153 (9th C#0O00) (citation omittedsee also
Trost v. Embernate2011 WL 6101543, at *2 (D. Hawec. 7, 2011). Liberally
construing her allegations, the Court carshetermine at this preliminary stage of
the litigation whether the otherwise tirbarred fraud claims relating to the 2007
Mortgage are tolled. Accordinglthe Motion is denied on this basis.

B. Failure To Allege Fraud With Particularity

In any event, Count Il fails to satisfy the heightened pleading requirements
applicable to such claims.
Fraud and fraudulent misrepresergatshare the same elements.

Compare Fisher vGrove Farm Cq 123 Haw. 82, 103, 230 P.3d
382, 403 (Haw. Ct. App. 2009) (stg the elements of a fraud

also support an argument for applicatadrihe statutory tding provision. See, e.glmamoto v.
Soc. Sec. Admin2008 WL 2622815, at *6 (D. Haw. Juy 2008) (“Although HRS 8§ 657-13 does
not define the meaning of ‘insane,’ thewda Supreme Court discussed its contours:
‘[J]urisdictions examining the meaning of insgrin the context of tolling the statute of
limitations have liberally definethe term as: (1) the ability to understand one’s legal rights or
manage one’s affairs; (2) the inlgtly to understand the nature dfext of one’s acts; or (3) the
inability to carry out one’s busineasd prosecute the claim.”) (quotifuck v. Miles89 Haw.
244,252,971 P.2d 717, 725 (1999)).
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claim)with Ass’n of Apartment Owner$l5 Haw. at 263, 167
P.3d at 256 (stating the elements of a fraudulent
misrepresentation claim). LiKeaudulent misrepresentation,
the elements of fraud are “1) false representations made by the
defendant, 2) with knowledg# their falsity (or without
knowledge of their truth or faty), 3) in contemplation of
plaintiff's reliance upon thempna 4) plaintiff's detrimental
reliance.” Fisher, 123 Haw. at 103, 230 P.3d at 403.
Prim Liab. Co. v. Pace-O-Matic, Inc2012 WL 263116, at *8 (D. Haw. Jan. 30,
2012).

Rule 9(b) requires that, when fraud ostake is alleged, “a party must state
with particularity the circumstances canging fraud or mistake.” Fed.R.Civ.P.
9(b). An allegation of fraud is suffemt if it “identifies the circumstances
constituting fraud so that the defendant paepare an adequate answer from the
allegations.” Neubronner v. Milken6 F.3d 666, 672 (9th Cir. 1993) (internal
citations and quotations omitted). “Aveents of fraud must be accompanied by
the who, what, when, where, ahdw of the misconduct charged.Kearns v. Ford
Motor Ca, 567 F.3d 1120, 1124 (9th Cir. 2009) (quotiress v. Ciba-Geigy Corp.
USA 317 F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th C003)). A plaintiff must also explain why the
alleged conduct or statemts are fraudulent.In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litigd2
F.3d 1541, 1548 n.7 (91hir. 1994) (en bancykuperseded by statute on other
grounds byl5 U.S.C. § 78u-4.

Lynch does not sufficientlgllege the circumstances that constitute fraudulent

conduct by Countrywide or itthnamed “agents” in Coufit The Complaint does
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not identify such facts as the times, dapdaces, or other details of the alleged
fraudulent activity. Neubronner6 F.3d at 672.

Consequently, Count Il fails to satisfy the particularity requirement of Rule
9(b) and is dismissedBecause amendment may begible, however, Lynch is
granted leave to attempt to cuihe deficiencies in this claim.

[ll. Count Ill: RESPA

Lynch alleges in Count Ill that BANAacting as servicer . . . [by] not
responding within the statutory time limna in fact, not responding at all . . .
violated 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e) and [Regulatijii Complaint  38. She contends
that she “sent multiple written request§BA&NA] disputing theamount of debt she
allegedly owed and requesy documentation. No written response addressing
these issues was ever given to [Lynch].ilikgto provide an accurate statement of
the total outstanding balance of the delthout a reasonable time further violates
[Regulation Z].” Complaint q 38.

A. Whether RESPA Claims Are Time-Barred

Lynch does not allege the specifidemthat she requested documents from
BANA, and the Court cannot determineaasatter of law thabter RESPA claims
are time-barred. The Complaint allegleat at “some point not now known to
[Lynch], [BANA] began actingas the servicer of herda. [Lynch] does not recall

receiving any notice of such a change lation of 12 U.S.C. § 2605 of [RESPA].”
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Complaint § 21. She further alleges thmfore the initiation of the nonjudicial
foreclosure, she had a series of commoatons with BANA regarding the terms of
the Mortgage and her atteted loan modification. SeeComplaint {{ 21-29.
Although it appears that certain req@esere made prior to the nonjudicial
foreclosure sale, the dates of the otfedevant communications are absent.
According to Lynch,
[a]fter months of stressful tey, [she] was sent the HAMP
paperwork by [BANA]. Plaintiff wa sent this paperwork three
days prior to the initiation of a nonjudicial foreclosure process by
[BANA.
Subsequently, a nonjudicial flosure sale was wrongfully
conducted on the subject propertydre Ms. Lynch had time to
properly assess her options amdile the loan modification
negotiations were still ongoing.
Complaint 11 30-31. The foreclosure sale took place on June 17, &&D.
Defendants’ Ex. B (Quitclaim Deed).
The statute of limitations for a RESPAairh is either oner three years from
the date of the violation, depending oa tigpe of violation. Specifically, 12 U.S.C.
§ 2614 provides:
Any action pursuant to the provisions of section 2605, 2607, or
2608 of this title may be brought in the United States district
court or in any other court @bmpetent jurisdiction, for the
district in which the propertynwolved is located, or where the
violation is alleged thave occurred, within 3 years in the case of
a violation of section 2605 of this title and 1 year in the case of a

violation of section 2607 or 2608 of this title from the date of the
occurrence of the violation[.]
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To the extent Lynch alleges a violationSection 2605, her claims are subject
to the three-year limitations period. idtnot clear from the allegations in the
Complaint, however, when Lynch acliyaequested documents from BANA, or
when any corresponding limitations pfifor a civil action based on BANA's
purported failure to comply with its statutory obligations began to run.
Accordingly, the Motion is denied on this basis.

B. Failure To State A RESPA Claim

In any event, Count Il fails to sta#eRESPA claim. Taéhe extent Lynch
attempts to assert a claim for vitdan of 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e) based on BANA'’s
failure to respond to a Qualified Writt&equest (“QWR”), her allegations are
deficient. RESPA providesdh“[i]f any servicer of dederally reléed mortgage
loan receives a [QWR] fra the borrower (or an agent of the borrower) for
information relating to the servicing of suldan, the serviceshall provide a written
response acknowledging receipt of therespondence within 20 days[.]” 12
U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A). After receivitbe QWR, within sixty days, the loan
servicer must either correct thertmwer’s account or, after conducting an
investigation, provide the borrower wighwritten explanation of: (1) why the
servicer believes the account is correct(2) why the requested information is

unavailable. Seel2 U.S.C. § 2605(¢e)(2).
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Lynch asserts in only the most vagaans the existence of a QWR—Lynch
does not attach a copy of the request, doealtegje facts to establish when and how
she communicated with BANA, does ra#scribe the content of these
communications, including whether theyncerned the servicing of her loan, as
defined by RESPA, and gerally does not descriliee communications in
sufficient detail to determine whethilyey triggered a duty to respond.
Accordingly, she fails to stata cognizable RESPA claimSee Rey v. Countrywide
Home Loans, In¢ 2012 WL 253137, at *6 (D. Haw. Jan. 26, 2012) (citing
Lettenmaier v. Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp011 WL 3476648, at *12 (D. Or.
Aug. 8, 2011) (dismissing RESPA claim whéplaintiffs fail to attach a copy of
their correspondence to the Complaintaallege facts showing that the
communication concerned servicing of fban as defined by the statutéanzano
v. Metlife Bank N.A2011 WL 2080249, at *7 (E.D. CaMay 25, 2011) (Plaintiff
“cannot simply allege itonclusory fashion thdhe written correspondence
constituted QWRSs.”).

The RESPA claim here also failsdause Lynch has not alleged any actual
damages. Pursuantto 12 U.S.C. § ZB8Qb), Lynch has a bulen to plead and
demonstrate that she has suffered dasag@ecause damages are a necessary
element of a RESPA claim, faikito plead damages is fatabee, e.g., Reg012

WL 253137, at *5 (citindesoimeme v. Wells Fargo Bar#011 WL 3875881, at *14
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(E.D. Cal. Sept. 1, 2011) (dismissing clawhere the plaintiff failed to “allege any
pecuniary loss from defend&ntlleged failure to respond to the QWRShepherd
v. Am. Home Mortg. Sery2009 WL 4505925, at *3 (B. Cal. Nov. 20, 2009)
(“[Allleging a breach of RESPA dutiesae does not state a claim under RESPA.
Plaintiff must, at a minimum, also afje that the breach resulted in actual
damages.”) (quotinglutchinson v. Del. Sav. Bank FSB0 F. Supp. 2d 374, 383
(D.N.J. 2006)). Lynch fails to alledkat she suffered any actual damages
resultof the alleged RESPA violationsSee Shephey@009 WL 4505925, at *3.
Indeed, although the requirement thésoarower plead damages is interpreted
“liberally,” id., “the [borrower] must at leasliege what or how the [borrower]
suffered the pecuniary loss.Ash v. OneWest Bank, FSE10 WL 375744, at *6
(E.D. Cal. Jan. 26, 2010).

In sum, Lynch fails to allege RESPA claim against any party and
Defendants’ Motion is granted as@ount Ill. Because amendment may be
possible, however, Lynch is granted leavattempt to cure the deficiencies in this
claim.

IV. CountlV: ECOA

Count IV alleges that BANA violad ECOA and Regulation B by failing to
notify her within 60 days dfthe action taken on said loamodification application.”

Complaint 1 39. According to Lynckhe “never received any written response,

17



and every time she called [BANAg inquire about the status of her application she
was rudely dismissed or told they had naspd her paperwork.” Complaint § 39.
Defendants first seek dismissal ontatof limitations grounds. The ECOA
currently provides that actions brought unithat statute must lmmenced within
“5 years after the date of occurrence of the violation.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691&($).
discussed previously, Lyndlleges she had a series of communications with both
BANA and Countrywide concerning loanoahification negotiations prior to the
nonjudicial foreclosure saleSeeComplaint 1 21-31. Itis not clear from the
allegations in the Complaint, howey&rhen Lynch actually sent her loan
modification application to BANA, or when any corresponding limitations period
for a civil action based on BANA's purportéailure to comply with its statutory
obligations began to run. That iset@omplaint does not state that the loan
modification application was submitted prtorthe June 17, 2010 foreclosure sale.
Accordingly, the Court cannot determineetther the ECOA claims are time-barred

based upon the ambiguous alleggas in the Complaint.

“At the time of the 2007 Mortgg loan originatin, however, the ECOA contained a two-year
limitations period. 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(f)(201@&nended bypodd—Frank Wall Street Reform

and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd—Fraidt), Pub.L. No. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010).
Courts have held that Congress did not clearly manifest an fotethie longer limitations period
enacted in July 2010 to apply retroactively, ahdyefore, the two-year limitations period applies
to claims that accrued before July 2018ee Colquitt v. Manufacturers & Traders Trust Cal4

F. Supp. 3d 1219, 1229 (D. Or. 2015). Because it is not clear from the face of the Complaint
when Lynch allegedly sent her loan modificatapplication to BANA, or when the alleged
violation of ECOA occurred, it inot clear whether the two-year five-year limitations period
applies under the circumstances presented.
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In any event, because the allegatiars vague, conclusory and fail to set
forth the required elements, Count IV ismiissed for failure to state a claim with
leave to amend. In general, a plaingifiieges an ECOA violation by asserting that
“(1) she is a membaf a protected class; (2) she applied for credit with defendants;
(3) she qualified for credit; and (4) shesadenied credit despiteeing qualified.”
Hafiz v. Greenpoint Mortg. Funding, In6G52 F. Supp. 2d 1039, 1045 (N.D. Cal.
2009);Blair v. Bank of Am., N.A2012 WL 860411, at *12 (D. Or. Mar. 13, 2012).

First, Lynch does not alledkat she is a rmeber of a protected class. Under
Section 1691(a)(1), it is unlawful to disennate against any applicant on the basis
of race, color, religion, natnal origin, sex or marital sta, or age. The Complaint
Is silent in this regard.

Second, with respect to that portion of her ECOA claim related to BANA's
non-responses or denials of neodification application during the unspecified time
period, Lynch fails to allege she was qualified to recaineodification or to allege
any facts from which th€ourt could infer she was qualified to receive any
modification. Accordingly, Lynch fails tetate a claim for violation of the ECOA
as to any portion of her EQA claim that is timely.

The Court grants Defendants’ Mati and dismisses Count IV. Because

amendment may be possible, dissail is with leave to amend.
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V. CountV: UDAP

Count V alleging unfair and deceptiaets and practices is insufficiently
pled?> Lynch seeks an order that her Natel Mortgage areoid and unenforceable
under Chapter 480, on the grounds that:

the origination of the subject loan being based not on Plaintiff's
ability to pay, but upon the brokers’ and lenders’ and their
agents’, successors’, and ass@si ability to recover substantial
fees and commissions from the transaction, and their ability to
recover upon the foreclosure valaf the subject property,
entitling Plaintiff to a declaratn that the underlying mortgage
contract is null and void pursuant to Section 480-12].]
Complaint § 40. She also alleges tRANA caused her “default and delayed her
loan modification processing to increase dhefiault and late feamaking any default
cure virtually impossible and ensuringedimiave no foreclosure alternative.”
Complaint § 41.

Count V fails state a Chapter 48@ich. Pursuant to Section 480-13, a
successful UDAP claim must establisheth elements: (1) a violation of HRS
chapter 480; (2) which causes an injuryhe plaintiff's business or property; and
(3) proof of the amount of damage®avis v. Four Seasons Hotel Ltd22 Hawai'i

423, 435, 228 P.3d 303, 315 (2010%ection 480-2(a) states: “Unfair methods of

competition and unfair or deceptive acts @agices in the conduct of any trade or

°Although Defendants move to dismiss the clainime-barred, for the same reasons discussed
previously with respect to h&ount Il fraud claim, the Court dénes to dismiss on statute of
limitations grounds at this earlyagfe due to the possibility ofjeitable or statutory tolling.
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commerce are unlawful.” The Hawaii Sapre Court “has described a deceptive
act or practice as having the capaoityendency to mislead or deceiveCourbat
v. Dahana Ranch, Inc111 Hawai‘i 254, 261, 14184 427, 434 (2006) (citation
and quotation marks omitted). More spwally, under Hawaii law, “a deceptive
act or practice is (1) a representationjssion, or practice that (2) is likely to
mislead consumers acting reasonabiger circumstances where (3) the
representation, omission, or practice is materiddd’ at 262, 141 P.3d at 435
(quotation and alteration sigsamitted). “A representi@n, omission, or practice
Is considered ‘material’ if it involvesniformation that is important to consumers
and, hence, likely to affect their choice of, or conduct regarding, a product.”
(citing Novartis Corp. v. FTC223 F.3d 783, 786 (D.C. Cir. 2000)).

A UDAP claim alleging fraudulent busss practices must be pled with
particularity pursuant to Rule 9(b)Smallwood v. Ncsoft Corp/730 F. Supp. 2d
1213, 1232 (D. Haw. 2010). Lynch failsaflege the time, place and specific
content of the unfair and deceptive practice as well as the identities of the parties to
the action. SeeNeubronner6 F.3d at 672.

Moreover, a UDAP claim cannot based on a HAMP guidelines violation
because no private right of action exists to enforce th&mse Rey v. Countrywide
Home Loans, In¢2012 WL 253137, at *9 (D. Haw. Jan. 26, 2012). Finally,

Lynch’s UDAP claim cannot be based amy alleged failure to offer a loan
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modification because she has not establisheght to such modification. And to
the extent her UDAP claimare based on BANA's refusal to modify the loan or
negotiate in good faith, slimes not present a sufficiemictual basis for the alleged
promise to modify the loan, subsequent “baand switch.” SeeDias v. Fed. Nat.
Mortg. Ass’n 990 F. Supp. 2d 1042, 1055 (D. Haw. 2013).

Consequently, Count V fails to satighe particularity requirement of Rule
9(b) and fails to state a claim under®w2(b)(6). Because amendment may be
possible, dismissal is with leave to amend.

VI. Count VI: Breach Of Implied Covenant Of Good Faith And Fair Dealing

Count VI alleges that:

[BANA], by requiring Ms. Lynch talefault prior to entering into
loan modification negotiations, acted with dishonest purpose and
conscious wrongdoing. Througs participation in HAMP,
[BANA] receives financial paymes solely for the purpose of
helping homeowners such Es. Lynch, by permanently
modifying their loans. HAMP guidelines only require a
homeowner to be facing ‘imminedefault’ and, contrary to the
misrepresentations made byARA] and its agents, does not
require a homeowner to bedefault or even behind in

payments. By making thesesrepresentations, [BANA] acted
dishonestly for the purposes of inducing Ms. Lynch to give up
the benefit of her loan contracts, thus breaching the covenant of
good faith and fair dealing that is implied in every contract
within the state of Hawaiil.]

Complaint § 43.
Although commercial contracts for theale of goods” contain an obligation

of good faith in their performance and ertiement, this obligation does not create
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an independent cause of actio®ee Stoebner Motors, Inc. v. Automobili
Lamborghini S.P.A459 F. Supp. 2d 1028, 1037-38 (D. Haw. 2006). Breach of the
implied covenant of good faith is not its pwlaim but merely part of a breach of
contract analysis.See idat 1037. Hawaii courts havegularly held that this
theory provides no basis for a plaintiffgoe for damages or to set aside a note or a
mortgage in the context afmortgage loan contractSee Au v. Republic State
Mortgage Co, 2012 WL 3113147, at *10 (D. Haw. July 31, 2012).

At best, this claim asserts the tort of “bad faitiSee Best Place v. Penn Am.
Ins. Ca, 82 Haw. 120, 128, 920 P.2d 334, 342 @9@dopting tort of bad faith for
breach of implied covenant of good faith dant dealing in an insurance contract).
Although bad faith is an accepted tort where the plaintiff is a party to an insurance
contract, the tort has not been recaguiin Hawaii based upon a mortgage loan
contract. See Jou v. Nat'l Interate Ins. Co. of Haw 114 Hawai‘i 122, 129, 157
P.3d 561, 568 (Ct. App. 2007) (explainitiiat “the Hawaii Supreme Court
emphasized that the tort of bad faith, as adoptelast[Place v. Penn Am. Ins. Co.
requires a contractual relatiship between an insurardaan insured”) (citations
omitted). In fact, Hawaii federal districourts have uniformly held that a tort
cause of action for bad faith does not exishecontext of a mortgage loan contract.
Ramelb v. Newport Lending Coy2014 WL 229186, *3 (DHaw. Jan. 14, 2014)

(citing Jou v. Nat'l Interstate Ins. Co. of Hawl57 P.3d 561, 568 (Haw. App.
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2007));Gray v. OneWest Bank, Fed. Sav. Bé&tkL4 WL 3899548, *9 (D. Haw.
Aug. 11, 2014)Tedder v. Deutschigank Nat. Trust Co863 F. Supp. 2d 1020,
1039 (D. Haw. 2012).

Accordingly, the Motion is grantesk to Count VI. Because amendment
would be futile, dismissal of Count VI is without leave to amend.

VIl. Count VIl: Breach Of Agreeme nt To Negotiate In Good Faith

Lynch alleges in Count VII that BANAentered into a valid agreement to
negotiate a loan modification contractgood faith.” Complaint { 44. She
contends that she “relied on [BANA's]@mnise and directioand entered into
default to her obvious detriment. But this promise of good faith negotiation,
Ms. Lynch would not have ent into default. . . . Thesegotiation tactics were in
bad faith and breached said promise of good faith negotiations.” Complaint § 45.

Count VIl is facially deficient foseveral reasons. First, for the same
reasons discussed above with respect tbrbach of the covenant of good faith and
fair dealing, no independent cause of@ttexists for failure to negotiate in good
faith. Second, even assuming suchaanclexisted, a party cannot breach an
agreement before a contract is formeflee Contreras v. Master Fin., In2011
WL 32513, at *3 (D. Nev. Jad, 2011) (“[A]n implied ovenant relates only to the
performance under an extaintract, and not to anygxcontract conduct.”) (citing

Indep. Order of Foresters v. Donald, Lufkin & Jenrette, 1d&67 F.3d 933, 941 (2d
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Cir. 1998));see also Larson v. Homecomings Fin., L6B0 F. Supp. 2d 1230, 1237
(D. Nev. 2009) (“Because Plaintiffs’ claim revolves entirely around alleged
misrepresentations made before the [maggloan] contract veaentered into, [the
bad faith claim] failsas a matter of law.”)Young v. Allstate Ins. Col19 Hawai'i
403, 427, 198 P.3d 666, 69M@B) (indicating the covenaof good faith does not
extend to activities occurring before cangmation of an insurance contract).
Third, to the extent the allegationg drased on BANA's failure to offer a loan
modification or to negotiate a HAMP mdidation in good faith, Lynch fails to state
a claim. This district court and numeraatber district courts within the Ninth
Circuit have made clear that there is mpress or implied private right of action to
sue lenders or service providers for HAMP violatiorfSsee, e.g., Northern Trust,
NA v. Wolfe2012 WL 1983339, at *20 (D. Haw. May 31, 2013) (“Although Wolfe
contends that Northern Trust hadwty under HAMP not to proceed with
foreclosure while evaluating him for loamodification, there is no express or
implied private right of action for a violation of HAMP.Dias v. Fed. Nat. Mortg.
Ass’'n 990 F. Supp. 2d 1042, 1054 (D. Haw. 2013) (“Qualified borrowers under
HAMP would not be reasonable in raigi on the Agreement as manifesting an
intention to confer a right on him because the agreement does not require [a loan
servicer to] modify eligible loans. hls, Plaintiffs lack standing to challenge

HAMP compliance.”) (citationand quotations omitted).
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Accordingly, Lynch’s claim for breach of agreement to negotiate in good faith
Is dismissed. Because amendment would be futile, dismissal of Count VIl is
without leave to amend.

VIIl. Count VIII: Negligent and/or Fraudulent Misrepresentation

Count VIl alleges that BANA “fradulently induced Ms. Lynch into
defaulting upon her loan witlmaterially misleading statesnts that she would have
to be in default to receive any bemeinder the federal HAMP program. These
statements could have been made foother purpose than to induce default, as
[BANA] and its agents surely knew ththis is not the law.” Complaint 1 47.
Lynch asserts that she “was duped by athefstatements made that the bank wants
to help her and would try earnestly tonw@ut a modification. This constitutes
Intentional, or, at least Niigent Misrepresentation by [BANA] and its agents.”
Complaint § 47.

As discussed more fully below, Lyndioes not adequately plead claims for
intentional or negligent misrepresentation. Although Count VIII purports to
encompass both fraudulent misrepresenatand negligent misrepresentations, it
should, but does not, provide any indicatamto which statements are alleged to
have been made fraudulenthnd which negligently. See lllinois Nat. Ins. Co. v.

Nordic PCL Const., Inc870 F. Supp. 2d 1015, 1037 (D. Haw. 2012) (Plaintiff
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“may not evade Rule 9’s parti@rlty requirements by saying that
misrepresentations were made eitfieudulently or negligently.”).

A. Intentional/Fraudule nt Misrepresentation

Under Hawaii law, fraudulent misrepresation requires that: “(1) false
representations were malle defendants, (2) with kndedge of their falsity (or
without knowledge of their truth or falsjty(3) in contemplation of plaintiff's
reliance upon these false representationd,(4) plaintiff did rely upon them.”
Shoppe v. Gucci Am., In@4 Hawai‘i 368, 386, 14 P.3D49, 1067 (2000) (internal
guotation marks and citatioosnitted). Fraud claims, “in addition to pleading with
particularity, also must plead plausibleegations. That is, the pleadings must
state ‘enough fact[s] to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal
evidence of [the misconduct alleged].’Cafasso ex rel. United States v. Gen.
Dynamics C4 Sys., In637 F.3d 1047, 1055 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotBwgl Atlantic
Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 566 (2007)).

To the extent Lynch’s claims are prised on a promised loan modification,
the Complaint fails to offer sufficient detads to the time, pl&; or content of the
allegedly fraudulent statements. Furthee, fitaud claims with regard to a potential
loan modification appear to be based onreievents or inferences of mere broken
promises.

[U]nder Hawai'‘i law, the falseepresentation forming the basis
of a fraud claim “must relate topast or existing material fact
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and not the occurrence of a future evenddy A. McElroy,

M.D., Inc. v. Maryl Group, In¢ 107 Hawai‘i 423, 433, 114 P.3d
929, 939 (Ct. App. 2005) (citatns and block quote format
omitted) (emphasis in original). Further, even if the allegations
satisfy the other elements ofraud claim, “[flraud cannot be
predicated on statements which premissory in their nature, or
constitute expressions oftention, and an actionable
representation cannot consist of mere broken promises,
unfulfilled predictions or expedians, or erroneous conjectures
as to future events[.]"ld. (citations and block quote format
omitted) (emphasis in original).The exception to this general
rule is that “[a] promise relatg to future action or conduct will
be actionable, however, if tlgomise was made without the
present intent to fill the promise.” 1d. (citations and block
guote format omitted).

Doran v. Wells Fargo BanR011 WL 2160643, at *12 (D.Haw. May 31, 2011). In
the present case, Lynch’s allegation thatendants somehow promised her that she
would qualify for loan modification, or even that BANA promised her that it would
consider her application if she defadlteannot support a plausible fraud claim
unless Lynch can also allege that, whefeddants made thosegmnises, they never
intended to fulfill them. Absent suctstate of mind, the alleged representations
amount only to broken promises and not fraud.

Moreover, to the extent Lynch&daims are based on BANA's alleged
misrepresentations regarding loan modifma, those claims are not alleged with
the particularity required by Rule 9(b)See, e.g., Shroyer v. New Cingular Wireless
Servs., Ing 622 F.3d 1035, 1042 (9th Cir. 201Qpfsg that plaintiffs “must allege

the time, place, and content of the fraudtulepresentation; conclusory allegations
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do not suffice”) (citation omitted). Theskegations fall short of the heightened
pleading standards for fraud claims.

Because the Court finds that Lynch nimeyable to cure the deficiencies set
forth above, the Court DISMISSES this portiof Count VIII with leave to amend.

B. NegligentMisrepresentation

To prevail on a negligent misregentation claim under Hawaii law, a
plaintiff must demonstrate that “(1) falsgormation be supplied as a result of the
failure to exercise reasonable carecompetence in communicating the
information; (2) the person for whose bénthe information is supplied suffered
the loss; and (3) the recipienties upon the misrepresentation3oriano v. Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A 2013 WL 310377, at *7 (D. Ka Jan. 25, 2013) (quotiri§jair v.
Ing, 95 Hawai‘i 247, 269, 21 P.3d 452, 42001)). To the extent Count VIII
alleges negligent misrepresentation, thalksgations are not governed by Rule 9(b).
lllinois Nat. Ins. Co, 870 F. Supp. 2d at 1038.

Although Count VIl is alternatively gled as a claim for negligent and/or
intentional misrepresentan, upon reviewing the specifics of her claims, Lynch’s
allegations are grounded in fraudulent contduatentionally misleading statements
— rather than negligent misrepresemtas. She alleges that BANA “fraudulently
induced” her into defaulting by means ofdtarially misleading statements,” which

“could have been made for no other pugtisan to induce default.” Complaint
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1 47. The gravamen of this conductraaud and deception — not negligence or
failure to exercise reasonable car8ee Smallwood v. NCsoft Cqrpg30 F. Supp.
2d 1213, 1232 (D. Haw. 2010) (“Plaiithas not alleged a negligent
misrepresentation claim because Plaintiffilegations in this regard all sound in
fraud. . . . Accordingly, bmause these allegations are grounded in fraud and not pled
with specificity, any purported claifior negligent misrepresentation is
dismissed|.]”);Prim Liab. Co. v. Pace-O-Matic, Inc2012 WL 263116, at *7 (D.
Haw. Jan. 30, 2012) (Dismisg claim where “[a]lthough thile of Count IV refers
to ‘Negligent Misrepresentation,’ the text Count IV itself states neither the
elements of a negligent misrepresewntaiclaim nor facts relevant to reasonable
care, competent communication, or relianceo the contrary, Gunt IV alleges that
Pace acted with scienter and intent. this absence of scienter and intent that
separates negligent misrepeatation from intentiomanisrepresentation.”).
Likewise here, Lynch fails to stateckaim for negligent misrepresentation.

Because the Court finds that Lynch nimeyable to cure the deficiencies set
forth above, the Court DISMISSES Count VIII with leave to amend.

IX. Count IX: Mental Incapacity

Count IX seeks to set aside Lynstban based on “mental incapacity.”
Lynch alleges that she “clearly lackee ttapacity the time &ésecond refinance was

signed to enter into a contract. RlH#f was suffering from an illness which
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affected her ability to think coherently and notified Defendant Countrywide of said
infliction.” Complaint  48. She comtds that the “second refinanced Note and
accompanying Mortgage should be heldbéonull and void, the original refinance
loan should be reinstated with any clagcosts and overpayments made by Plaintiff
to be reimbursed, and the nonjudicial foostire sale set aside as being based upon
void contracts.” Complaint  48.

Although Lynch cites no tal authority for this claim, the Court liberally
construes the claim as seekmgcission of the 2007 MortgageSee Bischoff v.
Cook 118 Hawai'i 154, 160, 185 P.3d 902, 908. (&p. 2008) (“Plainly stated, the
remedy of rescission is an avoidancadfansaction, the extinguishment of an
agreement such that in contemplation of ianever existed, even for the purpose of
being broken.”). For many of the reasaiscussed previously, Count IX fails to
state a claim as currently alleged.

A. Count IX Fails To State A Claim Under Chapter 480

A rescission claim under Chapter 48@y be possible where the consumer
lacked capacity to enter intbe relevant contractSee, e.g Skaggs v. HSBC Bank
USA, N.A 2010 WL 5390127, at *4-6 (D. HaWec. 22, 2010) (analyzing whether
a defense of incapacity can be asserteshaga holder in due course seeking to
foreclose, and concluding that a mortgagée that is void under § 480-12 may be

subject to such defenses against a subsequent assijoej,v. Bank of N.Y.

31



Mellon, 848 F. Supp. 2d 1182, 1193 (D.wi&012) (Allowing Chapter 480
rescission claim to proceed where ptdf presented evieince of significant
impairments &.g, her advanced age, inabilitysee or hear, and her dementia),
[which] rendered her ‘incapable of reag, writing, and understanding re-finance
mortgage documents,’. . Her doctor also indicates she was ‘legally blind and
almost deaf, and was sufiieg from dementia.’).

If a Chapter 480 violation is estalfied, however, rescission under Section
480-12 does not necessarily or automatictalipw. Rather, a plaintiff seeking
affirmatively to void a mortgage trangmn under Section 480-12 must be able to
“place the parties in as cles position as they heldipr to the transaction.”
Skaggs2011 WL 3861373, at *1kee alsdBeazie v. Amerifund Fin., In2011
WL 2457725, at *12 (D. Haw. Jurié, 2011) (“Indeed, avdance of a contract and
restitution and/or rescissiore., treating the agreements as valainitio and
placing the parties in the positions they halidr to the transaction, go hand-in-hand
to carry out this result andgrent a windfall to one party.”l.ee v. HSBC Bank
USA 121 Hawai'‘i 287, 292, 21B.3d 775, 780 (2009) (holding that where an
agreement created at a foreclosure sal®id and unenforceable for failure to
comply with HRS 8§ 667-5, thetfitjhe high bidder at such sale is entitled only to

return of his or her downpayment plus accrued interest”).
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Lynch does not allege she has the abibityender loan proceeds back to the
lender, as necessary to obtain rescissi&ee, e.g., Young Bank of N.Y. Mellon
848 F. Supp. 2d 1182, 1193-94 (D. Haw. 201[A] plaintiff seeking affirmatively
to void a mortgage transaction under § 480-12trha able to ‘place the parties in as
close a position as they held prior to the transaction.”) (qu@kapgs2011 WL
3861373, at *11)Au v. Republic State Mortg. G013 WL 1339738, at *13 (D.
Haw. Mar. 29, 2013).

B. Count IX Fails To State A Claim Based On Fraudulent Conduct

To the extent Lynch seeks to vdidr loan based upon fraudulent inducement
by Countrywide, this remedy does not appedre available against any bona fide
purchaser. See Beazie v. Amerifund Fin., In2011 WL 2457725, at *10 (D. Haw.
June 16, 2011) (“To establish that thertgage transaction is void for fraud—and
can be cancelled against a bona fide paseh such as DBNTC — Plaintiff must
establish fraud in the factum, as oppa$o fraud in the inducementSee Aames
Funding Corp. v. Moresl07 Haw. 95, 103-104, 110 P.3d 1042, 1050-51 (Haw.
2005) (explaining the three types of fraudhe mortgage context, including fraud in
the factum, fraud in the inducement, adstructive fraud).”) (footnote omitted).
Accordingly, even if Countrywide inded Lynch to enter into a mortgage

transaction that she otherwise would have entered into, Lynch cannot seek
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rescission and/or cancellation of this transaction against any bona fide purchaser
who was not a party to the fraudulent transaction.

Because amendment may be posshbeyever, she is granted leave to
attempt to cure the defemcies in this claim.

X. Limited LeaveTo Amend Is Granted

The Court GRANTS limited leave to fien amended complaint, consistent
with the terms of this Order, dyecember 16, 2016 Lynch is granted leave to
attempt to amend the follong claims: Count | (quiet title); Count Il (fraud); Count
Il (RESPA); Count IV (ECOA); Count VUDAP); Count VIl (negligent and/or
fraudulent misrepresentation); and Count(ii¥scission). To be clear, this Order
limits Plaintiff to the filing of an amendecomplaint that attempts to cure the
specific deficiencies identdd in this Order.

If Lynch chooses to file an amendedrgaaint, she must write short, plain
statements, which clearly allege the fallng: (1) the constitutional or statutory
right she believes was violated; (2) the narh#he defendant who violated that right
or law; (3) exactly what that defendatd or failed to do; (4) how the action or
inaction of that defendant is connectedhe violation of law; and (5) what specific
injury Plaintiff suffered becaus# that defendant’s conductSee Rizzo v. Goode
423 U.S. 362, 371-72 (1976). Plaintiff muspeat this process for each person or

entity named as a defendant. If Plainf#ils to affirmatively link the conduct of
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each named defendant with the specificmsuffered, the allegation against that
defendant will be dismissedrféailure to state a claim.As noted in this Order,
allegations of fraud must be stated wiitle particularity required by Rule 9(b).

An amended complaint generally sugelss a prior complaint, and must be

complete in itself without referende the prior superseded pleadingling v.

Atiyeh 814 F.2d 565, 567 (9th Cir. 198dyerruled in part by_acey v. Maricopa

Cty., 693 F.3d 896 (9th Cir. 2012) (en bandllaims dismissed without prejudice
that are not re-alleged in an amendethplaint may be deemed voluntarily
dismissed. See Lacey693 F.3d at 928 (stating that claims dismissed with prejudice
need not be re-alleged in an amendeudmaint to preserve them for appeal, but
claims that are voluntarily dismissed are ¢desed waived if theyre not re-pled).
Lynch may not re-allegany claims dismissed with prejudice.

The amended complaint must desigrnthat it is the “First Amended
Complaint” and may not incogpate any part of the oiifgal Complaint. Rather,
any specific allegations must betyped or rewritten in their entirety. Failure to file
an amended complaint by December 16, 20ll&result in automatic dismissal of

this action without prejudice.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED.

Lynch is granted limited leave to film amended complaint, consistent with
the terms of this Order. Lynch is ¢auned that failure to file an amended
complaint byDecember 16, 2016vill result in the dismissal of this action without
prejudice.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

DATED: November 15, 2016 at Honolulu, Hawai‘i.

i = Da—

DerricK K. Watson
United States District Judge

Lynch v. Fed. Nat'l Mortgage Ass’'n et;aCV 16-00213 DKW-KSCORDER
GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS AND GRANTING
LEAVE TO AMEND
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